# Louisiana State University

# LSU Scholarly Repository

LSU Master's Theses

Graduate School

3-5-2023

# "Buried in the Bones": Medical Racial Trauma and Mistrust in **Black Families**

**Destiny Jelks** Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College

Follow this and additional works at: https://repository.lsu.edu/gradschool\_theses



Part of the Social and Behavioral Sciences Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Jelks, Destiny, ""Buried in the Bones": Medical Racial Trauma and Mistrust in Black Families" (2023). LSU Master's Theses. 5778.

https://repository.lsu.edu/gradschool\_theses/5778

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at LSU Scholarly Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in LSU Master's Theses by an authorized graduate school editor of LSU Scholarly Repository. For more information, please contact gradetd@lsu.edu.

# "BURIED IN THE BONES": MEDICAL RACIAL TRAUMA AND MISTRUST IN BLACK FAMILIES

#### A Thesis

Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the Louisiana State University and Agricultural and Mechanical College in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science

in

Deprtment of Social Work

by Destiny Jelks B.A., Spelman College, 2020 May 2023

# **Table of Contents**

Abstract	2
Chapter 1. Introduction	
Chapter 2. Review of Literature	9
Chapter 3. Methodology	19
Chapter 4. Results	23
Chapter 5. Discussion	49
Appendix A. Abbreviated Medical Mistrust Surevy	54
Appendix B. Interview Questions	61
Appendix C. Consent Form	62
Appendix D. Demographic Questionnaire	64
Appendix E. Recruitment Email	65
References	66
Vita	72

# **Abstract**

This exploratory study used a mixed-methods design and phenomenological approach to examine the ways in which the United States' history of medical racism impacts Black young adults and their attitudes toward the healthcare system as well as healthcare utilization. This study examines the phenomenon through the lense of critical race theory, family systems theory, and historical trauma theory. This study also explored the concept of the intergenerational transmission of trauma focusing on medical racial trauma and medical mistrust in Black families.

# Chapter 1. Introduction

When discussing the topic of the intergenerational transmission of trauma, psychiatrist Franz Fanon believed "the negative impact of oppression to be so powerful, as to be buried in the bones of those who suffered it" (Vaughans, 2020, p. 565).

# Historical Perspective

Since being brought to the United States in the 1600s, Black people have been seen as the inferior race in White-dominated American society. There was a general belief amongst White physicians that Black people differed from White people biologically (Ford, 2019). This idea of Black difference and often inferiority was further supported by multiple theorists throughout history and contributed to a majority of the racist medical protocols and procedures that have been seen. According to Benjamin Rush, one of the men who signed the Declaration of Independence, racial differences lay within what he called Negritude which was defined as a disorder that all Black people possessed because of their dark skin (Ford, 2019). In the 1800s, Georges Cuvier built on this theory with the idea of polygenesis, which is the idea that races have different origins (Ford, 2019). With this theory, races were placed in categories based on their civilization and skull quality with White people placed at the top and Black people at the very bottom of the hierarchy (Ford, 2019). The Black race was also considered to be relatively close to monkeys and barbaric under Cuvier's theory. Another supporter of scientific racism, Josiah Nott, believed that Black people had a much higher pain and stress tolerance than White people. Nott and other individuals at that time also believed that Black people were inferior and because of this the basic rules of humanity did not apply to them (Ford, 2019). All of these beliefs paired with over 200 years of slavery and a lack of resources and education have shaped

what is known as modern medicine in the United States. They have led to numerous incidents of immoral experiments on Black bodies as well as medical mistreatment.

#### Theoretical Perspective

This study will be conducted through the lens of multiple theories. The first theory is critical race theory. Critical race theory can be employed to understand racialized experiences and perceived discrimination. Delgado and Stefancic (2017) provide several tenets of critical race theory. The first tenet of critical race theory is that race is socially constructed, not biological. Race is a construct that is manipulated as society sees fit (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017). The second tenet of critical race theory is racism is normal and a common experience for people of color. The idea of mundane extreme environmental stress, or MEES, falls under this tenet. Though racism is a common experience for many Black people, the environment caused by racism and subtle oppression is described as "ubiquitous, constant, continuing, and mundane" (Carroll, 1998, p. 271). This environment is extremely harmful and can cause individuals stress (Carroll, 1998). The third tenet of critical race theory is interest convergence or material determinism. This tenet suggests that the legal system in the United States works in the best interest of White citizens while further disadvantaging individuals of color. The fourth tenet of critical race theory is differential racialization. This is the attribution of negative stereotypes to racial groups based on the interests of White people. The fifth tenet is the idea of intersectionality, "no person has a single, easily stated, unitary identity" (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017, p. 9). The sixth and final tenet of critical race theory is the idea of a unique voice of color. This suggests that all people of color are qualified to speak on behalf of their racial group.

Another theory used for this study is family systems theory. Family systems theory, created by American psychiatrist Murray Bowen, suggests that members of a family are interdependent, with each family member influencing and being influenced by one another

(Fitzgerald et al., 2020). How a family functions impacts its members and its members impact the function of the family system. Family systems theory also focuses on patterns in families across generations. Bowen's family therapy is considered to be a multigenerational transmission process (Helm, 2021). Though interdependence varies in each family, all families have some level of interdependence. This means that every individual, close to their family or not, is impacted by their family system.

The final theory used for this study is historical trauma theory. Historical trauma is caused by a cumulative traumatic experience that has a lasting impact across generations which leads to a collective group experience (Brave Heart, 2003). This means that a person belonging to a cultural group that has had a history of oppression and trauma may be indirectly affected by these experiences. According to Sotero (2006), there are three phases of historical trauma. The first phase is where the dominant group inflicts mass trauma on the marginalized group.

Examples of mass traumas include genocide, displacement, and slavery. During the second phase, the marginalized group experiences a psychological response to the trauma that can also impact them physiologically and socially. The third and final phase involves later generations being negatively impacted by the trauma their ancestors endured.

# *Purpose of the Study*

The history of racism and medical mistreatment in the United States has impacted the Black community in multiple ways. Though the participants of this study will be generations removed from directly experiencing the instances of medical racism that will be discussed, the goal of this study is to determine how medical racial trauma has been transmitted intergenerationally. This exploratory study used a mixed-methods design and phenomenological approach to examine the ways in which the United States' history of medical racism impacts

Black young adults and their attitudes toward the healthcare system as well as healthcare utilization.

In this study, medical racism is defined as prejudice and/or discrimination based on race in the medical context. This includes factors such as negative attitudes of healthcare professionals towards a specific race, medical mistreatment, unethical experimentation, unequal access to healthcare, and lower quality care (Nuddrin et al., 2020). Medical mistrust is one of the effects of experiencing medical racism (Peek et al., 2010).

#### Assumptions

There are three assumptions that guided this study. The first assumption is that contemporary young Black adults are aware of the history of medical racism in the United States. The researcher made this assumption based off their awareness of the history of medical racism as well as previous conversations with other young Black adults surrounding the topic. The literature review of this study includes several examples of medical racism that the researcher was knowledgeable about prior to conducting the study. The second assumption the researcher brough into this study is that Black families discuss the history of medical racism in the United States. This assumption is held because of the researchers prior knowledge of racial socialization, the process in which parents teach their children about race and what it means to belong to a minority group (Blanchard et al., 2018). The third and final assumption the researcher made is that the familial conversations surrounding the history of medical racism in the United States have impacted young Black adults. It was assumed that this factor impacts the medical mistrust levels and healthcare utilization of young Black adults.

#### The Researcher

I brought to this research my current experience of being a young Black woman who has to navigate the healthcare system in the United States while also being very aware of the long history of medical racism. Though I have not personally experienced medical racism, I have reason to believe that it is still a public health issue in the United States. I have heard and seen countless stories and examples of medical racism from the past as well as current. Additionally, have been a part of familial conversations that involve warnings about healthcare providers and urging me to try and only visit those who are also Black women.

I obtained my undergraduate degree in Psychology from Spelman College, a historically Black all-women's college. During my time at Spelman, I took classes such as African Diaspora and the World, Psychology of Racism, and Black Female Body in Visual Arts. These classes and more provided me with a rich background in Black American history as well as the history of the Black diaspora overall. They also made me conscious of the impact racism has had on Black people. Since I have been pursing my master's degree in Child and Family Studies from Louisiana State University, I have chosen to focus majority of my research on intergenerational transmission in families. I conducted a previous study examining the intergenerational transmission of parenting styles. This study also focused on young adults, specifically young mothers. My interests in exploring the impact of racism on the Black community and intergenerational transmission within families have lead me to research the intergenerational transmission of racial trauma in Black families.

Through firsthand experience, I have witnessed the impact of medical racism on the Black community and the intergenerational transmission of medical racial trauma. It is my hope that the data collected from this study can serve as a starting point for continuing research this phenomenon.

# **Chapter 2. Review of Literature**

The Tuskegee Syphilis Study

When discussing the history of medical racism in the United States, one of the most cited examples is the Tuskegee Syphilis Study, which was launched in 1932 by the Public Health Service. During this time, doctors wanted to study the disease and the south was a breeding ground for it. According to Ford (2019), the highest number of cases of Syphilis was in Macon County in Tuskegee, Alabama, with 36% of the population having the disease. Syphilis was common amongst the Black population in the South. Though physicians at the time attributed this to Black people being innately promiscuous, this prevalence of syphilis was actually caused by poverty, lack of education, and poor living conditions (Ford, 2019). At that time, "most Black people were sharecroppers and as a result could not afford medical care as a doctor visit would cost \$12 and for those few who could afford a doctor, many white physicians didn't serve Black patients" (Ford, 2019, p. 3). The lack of resources afforded to Black people compared to their White counterparts is something that has been a longstanding factor that contributes to medical racism and was seen in the Tuskegee Syphilis Study. This study consisted of 400 Black men from Tuskegee, Alabama who already had syphilis. The physicians involved recruited these men with the promise of free healthcare, but these men did not know the true details of the study. The physicians' goal was to see how syphilis affected the Black body over time and especially in death. In order to achieve this, instead of treating the men for the disease the physicians administered placebos and told them they were being treated for "bad blood" though treatment was available (Ford, 2019). This experimentation was deemed acceptable at the time because Black people were not really seen as human and were thought to have a higher tolerance to diseases like syphilis. It was also believed that syphilis affected Black and White individuals

differently because they were biologically different. Since the physicians were interested in the death caused by syphilis, they allowed the bodies of these Black patients to be ravaged by the disease in order to study the bodies after death (Ford, 2019). This experiment lasted well after the development of penicillin in 1942 and without the true consent and knowledge of the Black patients involved.

# Gynecology

The widespread belief that Black people were immune to pain and could be used for medical experimentation also led to what is known as gynecology today. James Marion Sims, who is known as the founder of gynecology, arrived at many of his medical discoveries through his exploitation and experimentation on enslaved Black women in the nineteenth century. The bodies of these enslaved women were seen as "anatomical material" and dispensable once experimentation was complete (Nuriddin et al., 2020). Sims would perform excruciating procedures on enslaved women with no anesthesia or proper aftercare. It was only once he perfected these procedures did he attempt them on White people with anesthesia and proper after-care. One enslaved girl, seventeen-year-old Anarcha, was operated on thirty times in an effort to perfect his fistula surgery. It is recorded that Sims forced the girl "kneel in agony while he inserted a speculum into her vagina and attempted to close ravaged openings by abrading their edges before suturing. Other whites held Anarcha as she screamed" (Feagin & Bennedield, 2013, p. 9). Not only did Sims experiment on enslaved women he also performed procedures on Black children. It is recorded that he would use shoemaker tools to pry apart the bones and loosen the skulls of Black children (Holland, 2017).

Eugenics and Involuntary Sterilization

In the 20th century hundreds of Black women, more probably undocumented, reported they were victims of involuntary sterilization and hysterectomies. One known case of this was civil rights leader Fannie Lou Hamer, who in 1961 went to have a uterine tumor removed and was instead given a hysterectomy. When she asked the physician why he would do that to her, she never received an answer but was instead silenced (Feagin & Bennefield, 2013). Cases like these continued to occur and were backed up by eugenics. According to Washington (2006), "eugenics was appropriated to label Black women as sexually indiscriminate and as bad mothers who were constrained by biology to give birth to defective children" (p. 191). Though this stereotype of Black women had been around for years, eugenicists gave what they believed was biological and scientific evidence to support it (Feagin & Bennefield, 2013). In 1939 Margaret sanger created the "Negro Project" intending to decrease the Black population through negative eugenics (Sanger, 1922). To achieve this, birth control was tested in Black communities. Due to the high levels of hormones in early birth control pills, Black women were subjected to harmful side effects such as: hypertension, stroke, infections, and more (Feagin & Bennefield, 2013). The United States government funded and supported eugenics and forced sterilization and countless numbers of Black women became victims.

#### HeLa Cells

In 1951, Henrietta Lacks, a young Black mother of five, went to the segregated ward of John Hopkins hospital complaining of vaginal bleeding and was eventually diagnosed with cervical cancer. While she was being treated for cancer, samples of her cells were taken without consent. Her physicians then chose to discontinue her radiation treatment and switch to antibiotics because they believed she just had a venereal disease and not cancer (Feagin & Bennefield, 2013). Due to the malpractice, Lacks succumbed to her condition and passed away.

The cells that were collected were given to Dr. George Grey and he discovered that Lacks' cells were like no other he had seen before. Normal cells would die, but hers doubled every twenty to twenty-four hours. Grey went on to mass-produce Lacks' cells for profit. What was originally a woman seeking cancer treatment was turned into a multi-billion dollar industry. Since their discovery Lacks' cells have been used in the advancement of many medical research areas "including immunology, oncology, and the development of the polio vaccine" (Nuriddin et al., 2020, p. 950). Though Lacks received posthumous acknowledgment years later, her family has never been financially compensated for her contribution to medicine.

#### Effects of Medical Racism

Though there has been some progress made in eradicating medical racism in the United States, the effects of the country's long history of discrimination, abusive experimentation, and mistreatment have had long-lasting effects on the Black population. Racism has played a significant role in the development of medical practices and procedures, and though it is now considered taboo, the remnants of it still remain. The persistence of racism in medical care has currently manifested itself in multiple ways including Black people being reluctant to receive treatment, Black people not receiving the proper treatment, and higher death rates for Black people (Feagin & Bennefield, 2013; Ginty, 2005; Mayberry et al., 2000; Alexander & Sehgal, 1998).

One major effect of medical racism is medical mistrust. Medical mistrust involves feelings of mistrust toward medical professionals and the healthcare system overall. According to Sanford and Clifton (2021), medical mistrust is "the extent to which a person has fears of being harmed by medical care, doubts about the accuracy or value of information from medical authorities, or questions about the integrity or motives of medical authorities" (p. 10). Medical

mistrust can also include mistrust of specific diseases. A recent example of medical mistrust of a disease has been evident in the COVID-19 pandemic (Smith et al., 2021). Peek et al. (2010) suggests that medical mistrust can occur following experiences of racial discrimination. Because of this, studies have shown that levels of medical mistrust tend to be higher among Black people than their White counterparts (Armstrong et al., 2008; LaVeist et al., 2000). These higher levels of mistrust are associated with negative health-related outcomes such as lower care satisfaction, delayed checkups and screenings, and lower adherence to medical treatment (Powell et al., 2019). Medical mistrust is also associated with reluctance or refusal to participate in medical research and organ donation (Sanford & Clifton, 2021; Morgan, 2004).

Another effect of medical racism is racial trauma. According to the American Public Health Association, racism is considered to be a public health crisis (American Public Health Association, 2020). When racism is experienced, it can cause race-based stress (Hargons, 2021). Some examples of race-based stressors include violence, discrimination, and microaggressions. Prolonged exposure to race-based stressors, can lead to race-based traumatic stress, which is defined as "the psychophysiological injury one experiences when witnessing or encountering a racist situation" (Hargons et al., 2022, p. 50). Racial trauma occurs in severe cases of race-related stress (Carter, 2007). Previous studies have been done to examine the severity of racial trauma. One study showed that racial trauma is similar to the trauma caused by other traumatic experiences such as rape and domestic violence (Bryant-Davis & Ocampo, 2005). It has also been found that racial trauma can lead to acute stress symptoms as well as post-traumatic stress disorder in people of color (Carter et al., 2005). According to Pinderhighes (2004), "at a personal level the trauma to African Americans caused them to have an inner life of repeated fear and

terror, death anxiety, psychic numbing, disconnection, isolation, tendency to self-sacrifice and self-denigration" (p. 165).

Intergenerational Transmission of Trauma

Traumatic is just one of the words that can be used to describe the Black experience in the United States. Though some of these injustices happened long ago, they have long-lasting implications. Medical racism can be considered a historical trauma since it has impacted the Black community collectively and over the span of many years. The specific definition of Black historical trauma is "the collective spiritual, psychological, emotional, and cognitive distress perpetuated intergenerationally deriving from multiple denigrating experiences originating with slavery and continuing with pattern forms of racism and discrimination to the present day" (Hampton et al., 2010, p. 32). Other examples of historical traumas experienced by the Black community are slavery, segregation, and numerous massacres, riots, and instances of police brutality (Henderson et al., 2021; Davis, 2022; Williams-Washington & Mills, 2017). This historical trauma, when remembered by members of Black community, can lead to race-based stress and racial trauma (Hargons, 2021). Since historical trauma can affect multiple generations, it supports the idea of the intergenerational transmission of trauma.

Intergenerational transmission of trauma is also supported by family systems theory. Since the lives of family members are connected and interdependent, circumstances that affect one member can affect others through direct and indirect interactions (Fitzgerald et al., 2020). The traumatic experiences of one family member can be transmitted to later generations through the compromised family functioning caused by the trauma (Pinderhughes, 2004). Symptoms of the intergenerational transmission of trauma include fear, mistrust, and more (Kincade & Fox,

2020). Though later generations did not experience these traumas, it has been suggested that they tend to "bear the scar without the wound" (Albeck, 1994).

The intergenerational transmission of trauma can occur through the process of racial socialization. Racial socialization is used to teach children about race/ethnicity. Through parents' explicit and implicit messages, children learn what being a member of a minority group means for them (Blanchard et al., 2018). For Black families, racial socialization often involves "discussions about racism, discrimination, coping behavior, and strategies to succeed in mainstream society" (Kincade & Fox, 2020, p. 222). According to Hughes et al. (2006), some of the tenets of racial socialization include preparation for bias and promotion of mistrust. Through the tenet preparation for bias, also known as racism preparation, parents teach their kids about their minority status and what it means in a white-dominated society. Not only do parents help their children become conscious of their race, but they must also prepare them to handle racially charged situations (Blanchard et al., 2018). Through the tenet promotion of mistrust, Black parents teach their children "to be cautious in white contexts and in interactions with white people" (Blanchard et al., 2018, p. 389). This tenet of racial socialization is visible when Black parents share historical and personal instances of racism with their children. This form of storytelling and warning not only helps protect Black youth from negative racial experiences but also helps prevent them from being in those situations, to begin with.

#### Previous Studies

Though there is a lack of previous research done on the intergenerational transmission of trauma in Black families, there has been previous research done on the descendants of Holocaust survivors. According to Berger (2014), "the trauma of the Holocaust overwhelmed and debilitated the boundaries, authority structure, and roles within families that had been established

and developed over the course of centuries" (p. 174). Studies have shown the negative psychological effects of being parented by individuals who have experienced collectively traumatic events (Sigal, 1989; Bergmann & Jucovy, 1982). Some of the effects include the inability to separate from parents, anxiety, problems controlling aggression, and identity problems.

Previous research within the Black community that has been done on the intergenerational transmission of trauma focused on the fear of police brutality. In the United States, Black Americans "are more likely to be stopped, searched, arrested, and charged with more serious crimes" and also, are "killed by police at three times the rate of their white counterparts" (Kincade & Fox, 2020, p. 221). The results of Kincade and Fox (2020) suggest that the effects of negative encounters with the police are transmitted through generations. An example of intergenerational transmission as well as racial socialization in the context of police brutality is Black parents having "The Talk" with their children. "The Talk" is a conversation Black parents have with their children to prepare them for encounters with the police and other authority figures. According to Miller and Vittrup (2020), "it involves warnings of how they may be perceived by the police because of their skin color, as well as guidelines for how to behave in the presence of police in order to mitigate potential harm" (p. 1703). During this conversation, parents often stress the importance of being respectful when dealing with authority figures like the police (Miller & Vittrup, 2020). When preparing their children for bias, parents often share their own racialized experiences and injustices. They also share things they see in the news and media (Miller & Vittrup, 2020). Some parents feel the need to go further and provide their children with step-by-step instructions on how to survive encounters with police (Miller & Vittrup, 2020). This parent-child discussion is important because studies have shown that Black

children are typically perceived as older and more dangerous due to racial bias. They are also more likely than their white counterparts to be seen as guilty and to become victims of police violence. Black children are more likely to become victims of police brutality than white children (Goff et al., 2014). In the Obel-Omia (2016) study, young black boys reported feelings of fear and uneasiness regarding police as well as the belief that society views them as a threat. Black parents live in fear that their children's encounters with police can potentially end in death (Miller & Vittrup, 2020). Sharing these warnings is a survival tactic that Black parents have adopted and feel they must employ in an attempt to keep their children safe. Feelings of fear and mistrust are developed through direct and indirect experiences with the police.

# **Research Questions**

How an individual was raised has a significant influence on their development as well as their views and choices later in life. One thing that is possibly affected is how much individuals trust the healthcare system in the United States. Though literature is abundant on medical racism in the United States, there is not much on how parental views of medical racism and medical mistrust affect their children. In response to the lack of previous research done on this topic, this study posed and responded to the following questions.

- 1. How much do young Black adults trust the healthcare system in the United States?
- 2. How does the history of medical racism in the United States affect the attitudes towards healthcare of young Black adults?
- 3. How have the views of their families affected young Black adults' current levels of medical mistrust?
- 4. How does medical mistrust impact healthcare utilization?
- 5. How do direct experiences with medical racism impact young Black adult healthcare utilization?
- 6. How do indirect experiences with medical racism impact young Black adult healthcare utilization?
- 7. How do direct experiences with medical racism impact medical mistrust?
- 8. How do indirect experiences with medical racism impact medical mistrust?

# Chapter 3. Methodology

The purpose of this exploratory study was to identify the ways in which the United States' history of medical racism impacts contemporary Black young adults and their attitudes toward the healthcare system as well as healthcare utilization.

# Research Design

A correlational research design was used to determine the relationship between medical mistrust and healthcare utilization, experiences with medical racism and healthcare utilization, and experiences with medical racism and levels of medical mistrust. This study used primary data collected through survey and interview. The *Medical Mistrust Survey* (2003) was used to determine levels of mistrust, healthcare utilization, and to record experiences with medical racism. A phenomenological approach was used to determine levels of medical mistrust as well as how the history of medical racism and familial views impact how young Black adults feel about the healthcare system in the United States. Interview questions were created based on questions in the *Medical Mistrust Survey* (2003).

#### Sample

Convenience sampling was used to recruit participants for this study. For this study, there were a total of 11 participants. All 11 of the participants completed the survey and 3 of the participants completed the follow-up interview. The participants consisted of Black young adults, aged 18-25 years old. Any individuals who were not Black or aged 18-25 years old were excluded from this study. They were students enrolled at a large public university located in a large southern city.

#### Measures

To conduct this study, an abbreviated and adapted version of the *Medical Mistrust Survey* (2003) created by the Johns Hopkins School of Public Health was used to determine participants' levels of medical mistrust. This survey consists of 7 sections and for this study, the following sections were used: Section B: medical mistrust index, Section C: healthcare utilization, Section D: negative experiences with the healthcare system, Section E: health behavior, and Section G: perceived racism index. Some examples of items from each section of the survey include:

- B1. You'd better be cautious when dealing with healthcare organizations.
- C20. If you could choose, would you prefer to be treated by a doctor of your own race or ethnic group, another race or ethnic group, or do you have no preference?
- D1. Have you ever had a healthcare experience where you were physically harmed or mistreated?
- E1. In the last two years, have you had a complete physical exam by a doctor or other health professional?
- G3. In most hospitals, African Americans and whites receive the same kind of care.

  [See Appendix A]

Following the phenomenological approach, participants were interviewed about their level of medical mistrust and how their parents or family has influenced it. The interview consisted of approximately 13 questions based on the participant's questionnaire responses.

Some examples of interview questions include:

- 1. How do you feel your race has affected your medical experiences?
- 2. What conversations have your parents/guardians had with you regarding the healthcare system?
- 3. How does what you know about the history of medical racism in the US affect your trust in the healthcare system?

[See Appendix B]

#### Procedure

The participants were obtained through a recruitment email. Once they agreed to participate in the study, the participants went to the Qualtrics link provided in the email. Prior to participating in the study, participants were required to sign a consent form that included any potential study risks. Once consent was given, participants were directed to the abbreviated version of the *Medical Mistrust Survey* (2003) and the demographic questionnaire. At the end of the survey and questionnaire, participants were asked if they would like to complete a follow-up interview for a chance to win a \$25 Amazon gift card. If they selected yes, they provided their email and were contacted for the interview and received a consent form to sign before the start of the interview. The interviews were held via Zoom and the meeting was recorded. Pseudonyms (Participant A, Participant B, and Participant C) were used in place of the names of the participants to maintain anonymity.

This study used a phenomenological approach to analyze the qualitative data. Following this approach, the phenomenon of medical racism was examined through the personal experiences of each participant. The goal of using this approach was to describe the experiences of contemporary young Black adults. To adhere to this goal, hypotheses were not created for the qualitative portion of this study, but the researcher acknowledged assumptions that were made regarding the study. The process used in the phenomenological approach involved 3 steps. First, bracketing was used to eliminate preconceived notions about medical racism and focus on the experiences of the three survey participants. During this step, the researcher acknowledged their prior knowledge of the phenomenon and made the conscious effort to remain impartial and not allow their prior knowledge to impact the study. An example of bracketing used in this study can

be seen in the order the researcher asked the research questions. The researcher placed broader topic questions at the beginning of the interview and those specifically about medical racism closer to the end. By not knowing the specific topic of the study until closer to the end of the interview, the interview participants were able to give non biased answers to questions like: What conversations have your parents/guardians had with you regarding the healthcare system? The goal of bracketing was to gain a fresh perspective pertaining to the phenomenon and focusing solely on the individual participant experiences (Ungvarsky, 2020). After bracketing, the researcher engaged in intuiting, which is the process of focusing on understanding the phenomenon through the lived experiences of the survey participants (Greening, 2019). The final step of the phenomenological approach was analyzing. During this step, the researcher coded the data collected by reviewing notes taken during the interviews to identify common themes among participant experiences in order to seek information about how medical racism impacts the current population of young Black adults in the United States (Lester, 1999).

# **Chapter 4. Results**

## Participant Demographics

Out of the 18 survey responses that were obtained, the results from the 11 that were completed were used. Demographic information collected on the participants included age and gender. All the participants identified as Black or African American. Ages of the participants ranged from 18-25 years, with there being approximately 27.3% of the participants aged 19 years old, 27.3% aged 20 years old, 9.1% aged 21 years old, 9.1% aged 22 years old, and 27.3% aged 25 years old. The majority of the participants, 90.9%, identified as female and 9.1% identified as non-binary. All the participants were students currently enrolled at a large public university located in a large southern city.

## Quantitative Data Analysis

To measure medical mistrust, a scale was created based on the statements in Section B: Medical Mistrust Index V2.2 Measuring Mistrust in Healthcare. The range of response categories were 1-4 with 1 (strongly disagree) being the lowest and 4 (strongly agree) being the highest. A mean score for each participant was calculated, creating a new variable, Medical Mistrust Mean. The researcher created a scale for assessing the level of medical mistrust. With a range of 1-4, scores that fell under 2.5 were considered to represent low levels of medical mistrust and scores that fell above 2.5 were considered to represent high levels of medical mistrust. Negatively worded items in Section B were reverse coded to ensure that they were consistent with the positively worded items in the section.

IBM SPSS29 was used to report the means of the quantitative data collected from the *Medical Mistrust Survey* (2003). IBM SPSS29 was also used to run Spearman *rho* rank correlation tests to determine how participants' personal experiences or experiences of those

close to them impacts their healthcare utilization as well as how participants' personal experiences or experiences of those close to them impacts their level of medical mistrust. Research questions four, five, six, seven, and eight were answered using quantitative data analysis. Significance levels for the correlational analyses were set at p<.05.

## Qualitative Data Analysis

Qualitative data was collected through interviews with the three survey participants who agreed to be interviewed. The three participants shared their experiences regarding their trust or mistrust of the healthcare system in the United States as well as personal, familial, and peer negative healthcare utilization experiences. Out of the interview participants, 2 identified as female and 1 identified as non-binary. The interviews were recorded for later review.

Themes that emerged from the interview and phenomenological analysis process included: medical mistrust, mistrust of non-Black doctors, racial trauma, historical trauma, intergenerational transmission, peer transmission, racial socialization, healthcare accessibility, and perseverance. These themes were based on participant responses and commonalities among them. Participants displayed these themes through their responses to the interview questions posed as well as through provided examples that supported their responses as well as their feelings towards the healthcare system in the United States. Research questions one through seven utilized participant interviews and phenomenological data analysis to answer the research questions. These themes will be discussed in more detail with the research questions.

\*Research Question 1: How much do young Black adults trust the healthcare system in the United States?

This research question was answered using the qualitative interviews conducted with three of the survey participants. However, an overall measure of medical mistrust was calculated

for all survey participants. Section B: Medical Mistrust Index V2.2 Measuring Mistrust in Healthcare of the Medical Mistrust Survey (2003) provided scores that represent participant levels of mistrust. According to the medical mistrust scale that was created for this study, mean scores that fell under 2.5 were considered to represent low levels of medical mistrust and scores that fell above 2.5 were considered to represent high levels of medical mistrust. The mean scores of each participant were calculated and then the average of those scores were calculated. The overall average score of medical mistrust was 2.8. It was also found that 1 out of the 11 participants scored lower than the 2.5 cutoff and the other 10 scored above.

The theme related to Black adults' trust in the healthcare system in the United States included: mistrust of non-Black doctors. Each participant expressed similar points of view when asked the interview question: *How comfortable do you feel when going to the doctor?* 

When asked about comfortability when visiting the doctor, Participant A reported that her level of comfort when visiting the doctor was an 8 out of 10. She further explained that her level of comfort was influenced by the fact that she had picked her own primary care physician and did research beforehand. She also noted that her primary care physician was also a Black female and that added to her level of comfort.

On a scale of 1-10, Participant B reported that their level of comfort when visiting the doctor was a 6. They further explained that their level of comfort was influenced by the fact that they have had some really good medical experiences. They also stated that their level of comfort often depends on the type of doctor they see as well as the context of the visit.

Participant C stated that her level of comfort depended on the race of the doctor. On a scale of 1-10, Participant C reported that her comfort level with a doctor who is a person of color

tends to be at 8 or 9. If the doctor is not a person of color, or specifically is a White male, Participant C's comfort level is a 6.

Research Question 2: How does the history of medical racism in the United States affect the attitudes towards healthcare of young Black adults?

This research question was also answered using the qualitative interviews conducted with three of the survey participants. Themes related to the history of medical racism in the United States and its effects on the attitudes towards the healthcare of young Black adults included: medical mistrust and historical trauma. Each participant expressed similar points of view when asked the interview question: What do you know about the history of medical racism in the US?

When asked what she knows about the history of medical racism in the United States,

Participant A stated that she is aware of the history of medical racism. When asked to elaborate,
she listed the Tuskegee Experiment, HeLa cells, and Serena Williams's near-death birthing
experience as examples of medical racism.

Similarly, Participant B listed the Tuskegee Experiment and HeLa cells as well. They also discussed how racism fueled Planned Parenthood and the eugenics movement.

Like the other participants, Participant C also listed HeLa cells as one example of medical racism. Additionally, she discussed health disparities and Black maternal death rates. She talked about the idea that Black people have tougher skin and are resistant to pain. Each participant expressed similar points of view when asked the interview question: *Do you believe that medical racism still exists within the US healthcare system? Why or why not?* 

Participant A stated that she does believe that medical racism still exists in the United States. She explained that some physicians still have biases whether or not they realize it.

Because of these biases, assumptions are made and the trajectory of care is impacted which can

"lead to people not receiving the amount of care they need, deserve, and require". Participant A also noted that medical racism can look like "not believing symptoms and not taking symptoms seriously." She also stated that this dismissal can impact a patient's level of trust and their relationship with their doctor.

When asked if they believe medical racism still exists, Participant B stated "Is a pig pork?" to emphasize that they do believe that medical racism still exists in the United States. They explained that medical racism is not a novel issue, but recently people have been becoming more aware of the issue. They listed the internet as a resource that has been used to distribute information about medical racism as well as bring awareness to it. They believe that though medical racism is not as severe as it once was, the United States still has a long way to go to eradicate it.

Likewise, Participant C stated that she does believe that medical racism still exists. She further explained that there is a lack of understanding of Black pain and experiences. She believes that racism in general exists and is still a major problem in the United States.

Each participant expressed similar points of view when asked the interview question:

How do you feel your race affects your medical experiences?

Participant A said that she feels that her medical experiences depend on the type of doctor she visits. She has a good rapport with her primary care physician so she tends to have good experiences. She does not know if her experiences would be the same with other doctors. Though she is happy with her care, she did note that having a doctor that looks like her, Black and female, is not as convenient. She stated that she has to travel further for a doctor that fits her preference.

On the other hand, Participant B stated that they believe that their race impacts their

medical experiences in many ways. They feel that it is sad that people do not recognize medical racism as a real problem when there is existing research and examples. They hope that people eventually wake up and see medical racism as a public health issue and recognize the importance of cultural sensitivity in healthcare.

Similarly, when asked how her race impacts her medical experiences, Participant C stated that it causes her to be more apprehensive when navigating the healthcare system. She feels pressure to remain healthy so that she does not have to see a doctor and potentially have experiences with medical racism.

Research Question 3: How have the views of their families affected young Black adults' current levels of medical mistrust?

This research question was also answered using the qualitative interviews conducted with three of the survey participants. Themes related to the history of medical racism in the United States and its effects on the attitudes towards the healthcare of young Black adults included: medical mistrust, racial socialization, and intergenerational transmission. Each participant expressed similar points of view when asked the interview question: *Where did you learn information about the history of medical racism in the US?* 

When asked where she learned information about the history of medical racism,

Participant A said that she mainly learned about medical racism from her family and at school.

She cited her mother's experience while having breast cancer as an example of how she learned about medical racism. Participant A stated that her mother expressed that her doctor was very dismissive towards her regarding her symptoms. Participant A's mother taught her to "reiterate your symptoms to bring attention to them and make sure your voice is heard."

When asked where they learned information about the history of medical racism,

Participant B said that they mainly learned about medical racism from their parents. Their parents did their own research on the topic and passed their knowledge down to them. Another more recent source of information on medical racism for them has been their medical social work class. This class did not provide a comprehensive overview of the history, but it did briefly cover the impact of medical racism on the healthcare system.

Participant C said that she mainly learned about medical racism from her mom who has worked in healthcare since the 80s. Participant C also noted that she has learned about medical racism from social media.

Each participant expressed varying points of view when asked the interview question: What type of relationship do your parents have with the US healthcare system?

Participant A stated that her parents have a good relationship with the United States healthcare system.

Participant B stated that their parents are very skeptical of the healthcare system in the United States. Though they are skeptical, they realize the importance of healthcare utilization especially as they grow older.

Participant C stated that her parents have always gone out their way to find doctors who are people of color. She also noted that her grandmother is distrustful of the healthcare system but because of the status of her health she has to see doctors and listen to their advice.

Each participant expressed varying points of view when asked the interview question:

What conversations have your parents/guardians had with you regarding the healthcare system?

When asked what conversations her family had with her regarding the healthcare system, Participant A said that most of her conversations regarding the health care system were centered around advice. Her family would talk to her about what services she needed and how to schedule

appointments.

When asked what conversations their family had with them regarding the healthcare system, Participant B said that their parents are "pro-Black" and taught them a lot about Black history and medical racism in the United States. Participant B's parents provided them with several warnings including that "the system is not for Black people." They also told her to document every experience and to be sure to get an itemized bill for everything. Participant B learned to be hyper-aware and cautious, but also the importance of healthcare utilization.

When asked what conversations her family had with her regarding the healthcare system, Participant C explained that she and her parents had not had any formal conversations regarding the healthcare system in the United States. She stated that she has multiple family members who work in the healthcare field and she has been told about some of the things that go on behind the scenes. Her mother has shared her work experiences and given advice on how to navigate the healthcare system. Her mother also stressed the fact that not every healthcare professional will have her best interest at heart.

Research Question 4: How does medical mistrust impact healthcare utilization?

The quantitative data from the survey responses was used to answer this research question. Prior to examining the relationship between medical mistrust and healthcare utilization, data for both variables were inspected for normality. Measures of central tendency, skewness coefficients, histograms, and normal Q-Q plots ensured that both medical mistrust and the healthcare utilization measures were normally distributed. The null hypothesis is there is no statistically significant relationship between medical mistrust and healthcare utilization. The alternative hypothesis is there is a statistically negative relationship between medical mistrust and impact healthcare utilization. This means the higher an individual's level of mistrust, the less

they utilize healthcare. A Spearman's *rho* test was used because the sample size, 11, was too small and did not meet the assumptions of the Pearson's test.

In order to determine the relationship between medical mistrust and healthcare utilization, a one-tailed test was run because the researcher hypothesized with higher levels of medical mistrust there would be lower levels of healthcare utilization. For this test, the independent variable was level of medical mistrust and the dependent variables were individual healthcare utilization variables pulled from Section C: Healthcare Utilization of the *Medical Mistrust Survey* (2003). These variables included: delayed treatment, not seeking treatment, not getting prescriptions filled, not returning for follow-ups, and not following the doctor's orders.

The results of the Spearman's *rho* test show a negative, but insignificant relationship (rho=-0.287, p<0.05) between medical mistrust level and delayed treatment. In other words, those who have higher levels of medical mistrust do tend to delay treatment, but not at a statistically significant level.

The results of the Spearman's *rho* test show a negative, but insignificant relationship (rho=-0.264, p<0.05) between medical mistrust level and not seeking treatment. In other words, those who have higher levels of medical mistrust tend to not seek medical treatment, but not at a statistically significant level.

The results of the Spearman's *rho* test show a negative, but insignificant relationship (rho=-0.165, p<0.05) between medical mistrust level and not getting prescriptions filled. In other words, those who have higher levels of medical mistrust tend to not get their prescriptions filled, but not at a statistically significant level.

The results of the Spearman's *rho* test show a negative, but insignificant relationship (rho = -0.403, p < 0.05) between medical mistrust level and not coming back for a follow-up

appointment. In other words, those who have higher levels of medical mistrust tend to not return for follow up appointments, but not at a statistically significant level.

The results of the Spearman's *rho* test show a positive, but insignificant relationship (rho=0.186, p<0.05) between medical mistrust level and not following the doctor's orders. In other words, those who have higher levels of medical mistrust tend not to follow the doctor's orders, but not at a statistically significant level.

Through these tests it was found that medical mistrust does not impact healthcare utilization at a statistically significant level. The null hypothesis is accepted.

Table 1. Medical Mistrust and Healthcare Utilization

[See Table 1]

		Delayed Treatmen t	No Treatment	No Prescription	No Follow- Up	No Doctor's Orders
Medical Mistrust	Correlation Coefficient	287	264	165	403	.186
	Sig. (1-tailed)	.196	.216	.314	.124	.316
	N	11	11	11	10	9

This research question was also answered using the qualitative interviews conducted with three of the survey participants. Themes related to medical mistrust and individual healthcare utilization included: medical mistrust, healthcare accessibility, and perseverance. Though each interview participant stated that they do not allow their level of mistrust to keep them from going to the doctor, their doctor preference and accessibility of doctors is one way medical mistrust impacts healthcare utilization. Each participant expressed similar points of view when asked the interview question: If you could choose, would you prefer to be treated by a doctor of your own race or ethnic group, another race or ethnic group, or do you have no preference? Why?

Participant A stated that she prefers seeing doctors of her own race. Participant A also said that she is very picky about her doctors and she selected her current doctor on her own after

doing research. She prefers this because she believes that Black doctors can better relate to her and her issues. She also believes that she has a lesser chance of her voice not being heard.

Participant B stated that they have had the best medical experience with Black woman doctors so that is what they prefer. They explained that Black woman doctors provide a level of cultural understanding that was missing with previous providers. Participant B and their current doctor developed an immediate rapport and they felt comfortable.

Participant C states that she prefers a doctor of her own race. She feels as though they are more willing to listen to her concerns. She also stated that, from her experience, their client base tends to be Black as well, so they are better equipped to work with Black clients like herself. She believes that Black doctors tend to have more cultural awareness and are able to diagnose her easier because they understand her.

Each participant expressed similar points of view when asked the interview question: *Are doctors that fit your preference easily accessible?* 

Participant A states that she feels like physicians that fit her preference tend to be further in distance and less accessible.

Participant B's current doctor is not easily accessible, and they have to travel 20 minutes, without having a vehicle of their own for a doctor that fits their preference.

Participant C stated that doctors that fit her preference are not easily accessible. Her current doctor is located in the city her university is located and she can only visit in person while she is there during the semester. Her doctor also tends to be booked for 1 to 2 months out so she tends to have to wait for an available appointment.

Research Question 5: How do direct experiences with medical racism impact young Black adult healthcare utilization?

The quantitative data from the survey responses was used to answer this research question. Prior to examining the relationship between direct experiences with medical racism and healthcare utilization, data for both variables were inspected for normality. Measures of central tendency, skewness coefficients, histograms, and normal Q-Q plots ensured that both medical mistrust and the healthcare utilization measures were normally distributed. The null hypothesis is there is no statistically significant relationship between direct experiences with medical racism and healthcare utilization. The alternative hypothesis is there is a statistically significant negative relationship between direct experiences with medical racism and healthcare utilization. This means that if an individual personally experienced medical racism, they are less likely to utilize healthcare. A Spearman's *rho* test was used because the sample size, 11, was too small and did not meet the assumptions of the Pearson's test. The results of each variable were as follows:

In order to determine the relationship between direct experiences with medical racism and healthcare utilization, a one-tailed test was run because the researcher hypothesized that individuals who had personal experiences with medical racism would have lower levels of healthcare utilization. For this test, the independent variable was a personal experience with medical racism and the dependent variables were healthcare utilization variables pulled from Section C: Healthcare Utilization of the *Medical Mistrust Survey* (2003). These variables included: delayed treatment, not seeking treatment, not getting prescriptions filled, not returning for follow ups, and not following the doctor's orders.

The results of the Spearman's *rho* test show a negative, but insignificant relationship (rho=-0.287, p<0.05) between a personal experience of medical racism and delayed treatment. In other words, those who have personally experienced medical racism do tend to delay treatment, but not at a statistically significant level.

The results of the Spearman's *rho* test show a negative, but insignificant relationship (rho=-0.194, p<0.05) between a personal experience of medical racism and not seeking treatment. In other words, those who have personally experienced medical racism tend to not seek treatment, but not at a statistically significant level.

The results of the Spearman's *rho* test show a positive, but insignificant relationship (rho=0.194, p<0.05) between a personal experience with medical racism and not filling prescriptions. In other words, those who have personally experienced medical racism do get their prescriptions filled, but not at a statistically significant level.

The results of the Spearman's *rho* test show a negative, but insignificant relationship (rho=-0.272, p<0.05) between a personal experience with medical racism and not coming back for a follow-up appointment. In other words, those who have personally experienced medical racism tend to not return for follow up appointments, but not at a statistically significant level.

The results of the Spearman's *rho* test show a positive, but insignificant relationship (rho=0.5, p<0.05) between a personal experience with medical racism and not following the doctor's orders. In other words, those who have personally experienced medical racism tend to follow the doctor's orders, but not at a statistically significant level.

Through these tests it was found that direct experiences with medical racism do not impact healthcare utilization at a statistically significant level. The null hypothesis is accepted. [See Table 2]

Table 2. Personal Experience with Medical Racism and Healthcare Utilization

		Delayed	No	No	No	No
		Treatmen	Treatment	Prescription	Follow-	Doctor's
		t			Up	Orders
Personal Experience	Correlation Coefficient	280	194	.194	272	.500
	Sig. (1-tailed)	.202	.284	.284	.223	.085

N 11 11 11 10 9

This research question was also answered using the qualitative interviews conducted with three of the survey participants. Themes related to direct experiences with medical racism and individual healthcare utilization included: racial trauma, medical mistrust, and perseverance.

Each participant shared their experiences when asked the interview question: *Have you personally experienced what you perceived as medical racism? Describe the incident.*Participants were also asked: *How did/does it affect you?* 

Participant A reported that she had not personally experienced medical racism and she did not have a story to share in response to this interview question.

Participant B reported that they have had a personal experience with medical racism. They told the story about how they went to the hospital because they were having an irregularly long menstrual cycle, three months. The health providers asked about their sexual activity and when they told the providers that they had not had sex in the past 6 months they were not believed. The doctor insisted that Participant B begin taking birth control, and they declined based on their own prior knowledge and the fact that the doctor provided no real diagnosis. It is also important to note that Participant B identifies as lesbian, but the health care providers did not ask or take their sexual orientation into consideration when making their suggestion. After being told there was nothing else they could do for them, Participant B left the hospital and ended up experiencing another 5 months of bleeding. They eventually took their health into their own hands, and after changing their diet and incorporating exercise into their life the bleeding ceased. Though Participant B left the hospital after receiving no tests, diagnosis, or help, they were later sent a bill for \$5,000 that included services that they did not receive. After sharing their story, Participant B was asked how the situation impacted them. They said that the experience impacted them greatly because the constant bleeding caused them to experience

fatigue. This led to their academics being negatively impacted because they could not attend class at times, but did not have a doctor's excuse to provide because there was no diagnosis. Though it took some time to recover from this incident, Participant B has now chosen to not allow their experience with medical racism to keep them from seeking help when they need it.

Participant C has also had a personal experience with medical racism. When she was about 6-years-old she was experiencing what she later found out was atopic dermatitis. Prior to her diagnosis, she was constantly having blood drawn and tests run to determine what the problem was. She stated that she feels like that was not good for a child so young. She also felt that her and her parents' voices were not being heard in that situation. Eventually, her parents took her to see a Black doctor who was quickly able to identify the problem and provide her with a diagnosis. This instance solidified her and her parents' preference for Black doctors moving forward. Though she recognizes the importance of healthcare utilization and will go to the doctor if she has to, Participant C's previous experience causes her to be stressed and hyper-focused on staying healthy to avoid having to go to the doctor.

Research Question 6: How do indirect experiences with medical racism impact young Black adult healthcare utilization?

The quantitative data from the survey responses was used to answer this research question. Prior to examining the relationship between indirect experiences with medical racism and healthcare utilization, data for both variables were inspected for normality. Measures of central tendency, skewness coefficients, histograms, and normal Q-Q plots ensured that both medical mistrust and the healthcare utilization measures were normally distributed. The null hypothesis is there is no statistically significant relationship between indirect experiences with medical racism and healthcare utilization. The alternative hypothesis is there is a statistically

negative relationship between indirect experiences with medical racism and impact healthcare utilization. This means the higher an individual's level of mistrust, the less they utilize healthcare. A Spearman's *rho* test was used because the sample size, 11, was too small and did not meet the assumptions of the Pearson's test. The results of each variable were as follows:

In order to determine the relationship between family experiences with medical racism and healthcare utilization, a one-tailed test was run because the researcher predicted that those who have relatives who have experienced medical racism would have lower levels of healthcare utilization. For this test, the independent variable was family experience with medical racism and the dependent variables were healthcare utilization variables pulled from Section C: Healthcare Utilization of the *Medical Mistrust Survey* (2003). These variables included: delayed treatment, not seeking treatment, not getting prescriptions filled, not returning for follow-ups, and not following the doctor's orders.

The results of the Spearman's *rho* test show a strong negative significant relationship (rho=-0.838, p<0.05) between relative experience of medical racism and delayed treatment. In other words, those who have relatives who have experienced medical racism do tend to delay treatment at a statistically significant level.

The results of the Spearman's *rho* test show a negative, but insignificant relationship (rho=-0.385, p<0.05) between family experience of medical racism and not seeking treatment. In other words, those who have relatives who have experienced medical racism do tend to not seek treatment, but not at a significant level.

The results of the Spearman's *rho* test show a negative, but insignificant relationship (rho=-0.039, p<0.05) between family experience of medical racism and not filling prescriptions. In other words, those who have relatives who have experienced medical racism do

tend to not fill their prescriptions, but not at a significant level.

The results of the Spearman's *rho* test show a negative significant relationship (rho= - 0.583, p < 0.05) between family experience of medical racism and not coming back for a follow-up appointment. In other words, those who have relatives who have experienced medical racism do tend to not return for follow up appointments, at a statistically significant level.

The results of the Spearman's *rho* test show a negative, but insignificant relationship (rho=-0.316, p<0.05) between family experience of medical racism and not following the doctor's orders. In other words, those who have relatives who have experienced medical racism do tend to not follow the doctor's orders, but not at a statistically significant level.

Through these tests it was found that family experiences with medical racism do impact healthcare utilization at a negative statistically significant level when it comes to delays in treatment and returning for follow-up appointments. The null hypothesis is rejected for those variables. [See Table 3]

Table 3: Relative Experience with Medical Racism and Healthcare Utilization

		Delayed Treatmen t	No Treatment	No Prescription	No Follow- Up	No Doctor's Orders
Family Experience	Correlation Coefficient	838**	386	039	583*	316
p *	Sig. (1-tailed)	<.001	.121	.455	.038	.204
	N	11	11	11	10	9

In order to determine the relationship between friends' experiences with medical racism and healthcare utilization, a one-tailed test was run because the researcher predicted that those who have friends who have experienced medical racism would have lower levels of healthcare utilization. For this test, the independent variable was friend experience with medical racism and the dependent variables were healthcare utilization variables pulled from Section C: Healthcare Utilization of the *Medical Mistrust Survey* (2003). These variables included: delayed treatment,

not seeking treatment, not getting prescriptions filled, not returning for follow ups, and not following the doctor's orders.

The results of the Spearman's *rho* test show a positive, but insignificant relationship (rho=0.324, p<0.05) between friends' experience of medical racism and delayed treatment. In other words, those who have friends who have experienced medical racism tend to delay treatment, but not at a statistically significant level.

The results of the Spearman's *rho* test show a negative, but insignificant relationship (rho=-0.149, p < 0.05) between friends' experience of medical racism and delayed treatment. In other words, those who have friends who have experienced medical racism do tend to not seek treatment, but not at a statistically significant level.

The results of the Spearman's *rho* test show a positive significant relationship (rho= 0.559, p < 0.05) between friend experience of medical racism and filling prescriptions. In other words, those who have friends who have experienced medical racism tend to get their prescriptions filled, but not at a statistically significant level.

The results of the Spearman's *rho* test show a positive, but insignificant relationship (rho=0.408, p<0.05) between friends' experience of medical racism and not coming back for a follow up appointment. In other words, those who have friends who have experienced medical racism tend to return for follow-up appointments, but not at a statistically significant level.

The results of the Spearman's *rho* test show a positive, but insignificant relationship (rho=0.316, p<0.05) between friends' experience of medical racism and not following the doctor's orders. In other words, those who have friends who have experienced medical racism tend to follow the doctor's orders, but not at a statistically significant level.

Through these tests it was found that friends' experiences with medical racism do impact

healthcare utilization at a statistically significant level when it comes to filling prescriptions. The null hypothesis is accepted. [See Table 4]

Table 4. Friends' Experience with Medical Racism and Healthcare Utilization

		Delayed Treatmen t	No Treatment	No Prescription	No Follow- Up	No Doctor's Orders
Friends' Experience	Correlation Coefficient	.324	149	.559*	408	.316
	Sig. (1-tailed)	.166	.331	.037	.121	.204
	N	11	11	11	10	9

This research question was also answered using the qualitative interviews conducted with three of the survey participants. Themes related to indirect experiences with medical racism and individual healthcare utilization included: medical mistrust, intergenerational transmission, and peer transmission. Each participant shared their experiences when asked the interview question: Has anyone close to you, including family and friends, experienced what they perceived as medical racism? Describe the incident. Participants were also asked: How did you feel when you heard about this? These are the responses the participants gave related to their utilization of healthcare following the incidents:

When asked about the experiences of those close to her with medical racism and how it impacted her, Participant A described a situation in which her sister experienced medical racism. At the time, her sister's doctor told her that her body mass index (BMI) was too high. This caused her sister to feel pressured to change her lifestyle and diet in an effort to achieve a "normal weight." Her sister also felt scorned because of this experience. Though Participant A reported that she feels comfortable when going to the doctor, she also reported feeling on guard when navigating the healthcare system. She said that this experience made her picky about what doctor she visits. Also, this experience causes her to be very proactive about her health and when she has to go to the doctor she tends to ensure she is over-prepared for her visits.

Participant B shared an experience that a friend had with medical racism. They stated that their friend has a very serious diagnosis of endometriosis that tends to cause her a lot of pain.

One day she was experiencing a bad attack and decided to visit the student health center. During this visit, the receptionist was not trying to help her because she did not have an appointment. When her friend tried to advocate for herself and request to be seen she was then told to go to the emergency room instead. As she continued to advocate for herself through the pain she was in, she was called rude and was still turned away. Participant B noted that their friend has a "strong tone" and tends to be perceived as "rude" or "aggressive" often when she is not trying to be.

Participant B also stated that they have heard numerous other stories of people close to them experiencing medical racism. They also stated that they know of individuals who will not visit certain hospitals in dire situations out of fear of how they will be treated because of their race.

Participant B does not visit the student health center because of the experiences of those close to them as well as their personal experiences. Participant B would rather travel 20 minutes from campus to visit a doctor that fits their preference.

Participant C stated that though her parents provided many warnings, she was unsure if they had personally experienced medical racism. Participant C stated that her grandmother would often share her experiences. Participant C's grandmother shared stories about doctors being mean and dismissive towards her. Though no one close to Participant C had been harmed by medical racism, the experiences of those close to her contribute to her constant effort to stay healthy to avoid having to see a doctor.

Research Question 7: How do direct experiences with medical racism impact medical mistrust?

Prior to examining the relationship between direct experiences with medical racism and medical mistrust, data for both variables were inspected for normality. Measures of central

tendency, skewness coefficients, histograms, and normal Q-Q plots ensured that both medical mistrust and the healthcare utilization measures were normally distributed. The null hypothesis is there is no statistically significant relationship between direct experiences with medical racism and medical mistrust. The alternative hypothesis is there is a statistically positive relationship between direct experiences with medical racism and medical mistrust. This means individuals who have personally experienced medical racism will have a higher level of medical mistrust. A Spearman's *rho* test was used because the sample size, 11, was too small and did not meet the assumptions of the Pearson's test. The results were as follows:

In order to determine the relationship between direct experiences with medical racism and medical mistrust, a one-tailed test was run because the researcher predicted those who have personally experienced medical racism would have higher levels of medical mistrust. For this test, the independent variable was personal experience of medical racism and the dependent variable was medical mistrust level.

The results of the Spearman's rho test show a positive, but insignificant relationship (rho=0.051, p < 0.05) between personal experience of medical racism and level of medical mistrust. In other words, those who have personally experienced medical racism have higher levels of mistrust, but not at a statistically significant level. The null hypothesis is accepted. [See Table 5]

Table 5. Experiences with Medical Racism & Medical Mistrust

		Personal	Family	Friend's
		Experience	Experience	Experience
Medical Mistrust	Correlation Coefficient	.051	.275	.089
	Sig. (1-Tailed)	.441	.206	.398
	N	11	11	11

This research question was also answered using the qualitative interviews conducted with three of the survey participants. Themes related to direct experiences with medical racism and

medical mistrust included: medical mistrust, racial trauma, and perseverance. Each participant shared their experiences when asked the interview question: *How did/does it (personal experience with medical racism) affect you?* These are the responses the participants gave related to their feelings following the incidents:

Participant A previously reported that she had not personally experienced medical racism and she did not have a response to this interview question.

Following their personal experience with medical racism, the doctors failing to provide a diagnosis then billing her for services she did not receive, Participant B blamed themself for the situation. They believed that the healthcare providers did not take them seriously because of how calm they were about their condition. Participant B noted that they feel like their being uninsured impacted the experience as well because they believe that healthcare providers do not treat uninsured patients equally. Participant B also felt that they should have been more prepared when they went in for the visit and hates that they feel that pressure. Eventually Participant B was able to change the narrative and realize that this negative medical experience does not define them and does not need to keep them from seeking help when needed. Now Participant B tries to remember the good in healthcare though they feel like it is challenging at times.

Since her experience with medical racism, undergoing numerous tests as a young child until a Black doctor finally provided a diagnosis, Participant C reported that visiting the doctor causes her to experience stress. Her experience also made her prefer to only visit Black doctors out of fear of not being heard and being dismissed again. Overall, Participant C stated that she is typically apprehensive when it comes to the healthcare system in the United States.

Research Question 8: How do indirect experiences with medical racism impact medical mistrust?

Prior to examining the relationship between indirect experiences with medical racism and medical mistrust, data for both variables were inspected for normality. Measures of central tendency, skewness coefficients, histograms, and normal Q-Q plots ensured that both medical mistrust and the healthcare utilization measures were normally distributed. The null hypothesis is there is no statistically significant relationship between indirect experience with medical racism and medical mistrust. The alternative hypothesis is there is a statistically significant relationship between indirect experience with medical racism and medical mistrust. This means that individuals who have family or friends who have experienced medical racism will have higher levels of medical mistrust. A Spearman's *rho* test was used because the sample size, 11, was too small and did not meet the assumptions of the Pearson's test. The results were as follows:

In order to determine the relationship between relative experiences with medical racism and medical mistrust, a one-tailed test was run because the researcher predicted that those who have relatives who have experienced medical racism would have higher levels of medical mistrust. For this test, the independent variable was relative experience with medical racism and the dependent variable was medical mistrust level. The results of the Spearman's rho test show a positive, but insignificant relationship (rho= 0.275, p < 0.05) between relative experience of medical racism and level of medical mistrust. In other words, those who have relatives who have experienced medical racism have higher levels of mistrust, but not at a statistically significant level. The null hypothesis is accepted. [See Table 5]

In order to determine the relationship between friends' experiences with medical racism and medical mistrust, a one-tailed test was run because the researcher predicted that those who have relatives who have experienced medical racism would have higher levels of medical mistrust. For this test, the independent variable was friends' experience with medical racism and

the dependent variable was medical mistrust. The results of the Spearman's *rho* test show a positive, but insignificant relationship (rho=0.089, p < 0.05) between friends' experience of medical racism and level of medical mistrust. In other words, those who have friends who have experienced medical racism have higher levels of mistrust, but not at a statistically significant level. The null hypothesis is accepted. [See Table 5]

This research question was also answered using the qualitative interviews conducted with three of the survey participants. Themes related to indirect experiences with medical racism and medical mistrust included: medical mistrust and transmission. Each participant shared their experiences when asked the interview question: *How did you feel when you heard about this* (family or friends experiences with medical racism)? These are the responses the participants gave related to their feelings following the incidents:

When asked how her sister's experience with medical racism made her feel about the healthcare system in the United States, Participant A said that at the time it made her feel like her sister was abnormal when there was really no reason for concern. Now she is shocked that assumptions were made about her sister and annoyed that she had to go through that experience. This experience also taught her the importance of knowing how to advocate for herself in situations like that.

When asked about how their friend's experience made them feel about the healthcare system in the United States, Participant B said that the situation and their own experience make it hard to trust doctors and healthcare professionals. They know that they have to prioritize their health, but they stated that these situations make it hard to believe that there are good doctors and healthcare professionals out there.

When asked how her family's experiences made her feel about the healthcare system in

the United States, Participant C said whenever she hears stories they add to her stress. She worries about truly being heard and cared for when visiting doctors who are not Black.

#### Quantitative Findings

Through the eleven survey responses it was found that medical mistrust does not impact healthcare utilization at a statistically significant level. It was also found that direct experiences with medical racism do not impact healthcare utilization. Results show that family experiences with medical racism do impact healthcare utilization at a statistically significant level when it comes to delays in treatment and returning for follow-up appointments. It was also found that friends' experiences with medical racism affect healthcare utilization at a statistically significant level when it comes to filling prescriptions. Results show that those who have personally experienced medical racism have higher levels of medical mistrust, but not at a statistically significant level. Those who have family members who have experienced medical racism have higher levels of medical mistrust, but not at a statistically significant level. Those who have friends who have experienced medical racism have higher levels of medical mistrust, but not at a statistically significant level.

Table 6. Summary of Quantitative Findings

		Delayed	No	No	No Follow-	No Doctor's
		Treatment	Treatment	Prescription	Up	Orders
Medical Mistrust	Correlation Coefficient	287	264	165	403	.186
	Sig. (1-tailed)	.196	.216	.314	.124	.316
	N	11	11	11	10	9

(Table 6 contd.)

		Delayed	No	No	No	No
		Treatment	Treatment	Prescription	Follow-	Doctor's
					Up	Orders
Personal	Correlation	280	194	.194	272	.500
Experience	Coefficient					
	Sig. (1-tailed)	.202	.284	.284	.223	.085
	N	11	11	11	10	9
		Delayed	No	No	No	No
		Treatment	Treatment	Prescription	Follow-	Doctor's
					Up	Orders
Family	Correlation	838**	386	039	583*	316
Experience	Coefficient					
	Sig. (1-tailed)	<.001	.121	.455	.038	.204
	N	11	11	11	10	9
		Delayed	No	No	No	No
		Treatment	Treatment	Prescription	Follow-	Doctor's
					Up	Orders
Friends'	Correlation	.324	149	.559*	408	.316
Experience	Coefficient					
	Sig. (1-tailed)	.166	.331	.037	.121	.204
	N	11	11	11	10	9
			Persona	al Family	Frie	end's
			Experie	ence Experie	nce Exp	perience
Medical Mis	strust Correlati	on Coefficier	nt .051	.275	.089	9
	Sig. (1-T	'ailed)	.441	.206	.398	8
	N		11	11	11	
Qualitative F	in dia a a					

Qualitative Findings

Through interviews with the three survey participants it has been found that there is a certain level of mistrust among young Black adults in the United States. It was also found that personal experiences with medical racism as well as the experiences of family and friends add to

their current levels of mistrust. Interview participants expressed that though they are aware of these experiences and do not trust the healthcare system, they do not allow their mistrust to impact their healthcare utilization because they understand the importance of proper healthcare utilization.

# **Chapter 5. Discussion**

The purpose of this exploratory study was to identify the ways in which the United States' history of medical racism impacts contemporary Black young adults and their attitudes toward the healthcare system as well as healthcare utilization. This study was conducted through the lens of three theories: critical race theory, historical trauma theory, and family systems theory. This study also explored the concept of the intergenerational transmission of trauma focusing on medical racial trauma and medical mistrust in Black families.

#### Limitations

There were two limitations of this study. One the limitations was the sample size.

Convenience sampling was used to recruit participants for this study. There were a total of 18 survey responses collected. Once the data was cleaned and coded, it was found that 11 out of those 18 responses were not completed and able to be used in the study. Of the 11 participants who completed the survey, 3 volunteered to take part in the interview portion of the study.

Another study limitation was the participant demographics. All of the study participants were students currently enrolled at a large public university located in a large southern city. Due to these limitations, the results of this study cannot be generalized to the population of young Black adults in the United States. Though this study is not representative the of overall population, it can be used as a starting point for more research focused on the impact of the history of medical racism on young Black adults and the intergenerational transmission of medical racial trauma in Black families.

### *Implications*

Despite these limitations, these results of this exploratory study suggest several theoretical implications. First, the data collected in this study can be supported by multiple tenets

of critical race theory. One of the tenets that supports the data is the second tenet of critical race theory which is racism is normal and a common experience for people of color (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017). The fourth tenet of critical racism differential racialization, also supports the data. This is the attribution of negative stereotypes to racial groups based on the interests of White people (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017). While telling the story of their friend's experience, Participant B stated that their friend has a "strong tone" and tends to be perceived as "rude" or "aggressive" often when she is not trying to be. This is an example of the "Angry Black Woman" stereotype that has historically be ascribed to Black women (Steele, 2016; Toms-Anthony, 2018). The final tenet of critical race theory that supports the data this study is intersectionality, the idea that "no person has a single, easily stated, unitary identity" (Delgado & Stefancic, 2017, p. 9). Participant B, who identifies as gender non-binary and lesbian was told by medical professionals that they should take birth control to solve their issue of vaginal bleeding. Though Participant B did feel that their race played a role in this experience, they also noted that their sexual orientation should have been considered when the medical professionals made this rushed suggestion.

The results of this study also can also be supported by family systems theory and the idea of the intergenerational transmission of trauma. The quantitative data suggests that family experiences with medical racism do impact healthcare utilization at a statistically significant level when it comes to delays in treatment and returning for follow-up appointments. It was also discovered that those who have family members who have experienced medical racism have higher levels of medical mistrust, but not at a statistically significant level. The interview responses suggest that the family is a primary source of information. Two out of three of the interview participants included examples of warnings their families gave them regarding their

safety and well-being when navigating the healthcare system. All three of the interview participants reported feeling a certain level of mistrust towards the healthcare system in the United States. Based on the both the quantitative and qualitative data collected, the ideas that members of a family are interdependent and trauma can be transmitted across generations can be applied to the results of this exploratory story (Fitzgerald et al., 2020).

The results of this study can also be suported by historical trauma theory. As previously stated, historical trauma is caused by a cumulative traumatic experience that has a lasting impact across generations which leads to a collective group experience (Brave Heart, 2003). What is displayed in this study could be interpreted as the third and final phase of historical trauma. The third and final phase involves later generations being negatively impacted by the trauma their ancestors endured. Based on the data collected, this theory could be applied to both the quantitative and qualitative results of this exploratory study. The quantitative results show the impact, though not statistically significant, of the history of medical racism in the United States on young Black adults. These results align with the qualitative interview responses. All three of the interview participants cited their knowledge of medical racism in the United States as part of their reasoning behind their level of mistrust and healthcare utilization practices.

There are also several practical implications that can be associated with the results of this study. First, the results of this study draw attention to the current disparities within the healthcare system in the United States. For example, interview participants saying their doctors are not easily accessible. Another example Participant C noting the lack of cultural awareness and understanding that is often perpetuated by doctors who are not of color. Also, the results of this study can be used to support the need for therapy and interventions for families who have been impacted by racial and historical trauma. The end goal would be to help these families heal and

to eventually eradicate the intergenerational transmission of trauma.

Directions for Future Research

Much work remains to be done before a full understanding of the extent of the impact of medical racism in the United States is established. In terms of future research, it would be useful to extend the current findings by examining the intergenerational transmission of medical racial trauma and medical mistrust in Black families. The connections between this phenomenon and critical race theory, family systems theory, and historical trauma theory can be further examined. Future studies could include a wider range of ages in an effort to determine the similarities or differences in the medical mistrust levels and healthcare utilization in Black adults. Future studies can also be done to examine the intergenerational transmission of other forms of trauma.

# Appendix A. Abbreviated Medical Mistrust Survey

# Section A: AGE VERIFICATION

Are you between the ages 18-25?

- 1 Yes
- 2 No (end survey)

# SECTION B: MEDICAL MISTRUST INDEX V2.2 MEASURING MISTRUST IN HEALTHCARE

The following are questions about how you feel about healthcare organizations. Select whether you strongly disagree, disagree, agree or strongly agree.

Item	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
B1. You'd better be cautious when dealing with healthcare organizations.	1	2	3	4
B2. Patients have sometimes been deceived or mislead by healthcare organizations.	1	2	3	4
B3. I trust that healthcare organizations will tell me if a mistake is made about my treatment.	1	2	3	4
B4. Healthcare organizations often want to know more about your business than they need to know.	1	2	3	4
B5. When healthcare organizations make mistakes they usually cover it up.	1	2	3	4

(Section B. Table contd.)				
Item	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
B6. Healthcare organizations have sometimes done harmful experiments on patients without their knowledge.	1	2	3	4
B7. The patient's medical needs come before other considerations at healthcare organizations.	1	2	3	4
B8.Healthcare organizations are more concerned about making money than taking care of people.	1	2	3	4
B9. Healthcare organizations put the patient's health first.	1	2	3	4
B10. Healthcare organizations don't always keep your information totally private.	1	2	3	4
B11. Patients should always follow the advice given to them at healthcare organizations.	1	2	3	4

B12. I typically get a second opinion when I am told something about my health. (Section B. Table contd.)	1	2	3	4
Item	Strongly Disagree	Disagree	Agree	Strongly Agree
B13. I trust that healthcare organizations check their staff's credentials to make sure they are hiring the best people.	1	2	3	4
B14. They know what they are doing at healthcare organizations.	1	2	3	4
B15. Sometimes I wonder if healthcare organizations really know what they are doing.	1	2	3	4
B16. Mistakes are common in healthcare organizations.	1	2	3	4
B17. I trust that healthcare organizations keep up with the latest medical information.	1	2	3	4

# SECTION C HEALTHCARE UTILIZATION (17-ITEMS)

C9a. Do you have a regular doctor or other health professional, such as a nurse or a midwife, you usually go to when you are sick or need health care?

- 1 Yes
- 2 No (SKIP TO C14)
- 3 Has more than one regular doctor (voluntary)

- 8 Don't know9 Refused
- C10. Think of your last visit with your regular doctor, would you say the doctor treated you with a great deal of respect and dignity, a fair amount, not too much, or none at all?
- 1 Great deal
  2 A fair amount
  3 Not too much
  4 None at all
  8 Don't know
  9 Refused
- C11. Would you say that the doctor spends as much time with you as you wanted, almost as much as you wanted, less than you wanted, or a lot less than you wanted?
- As much as wanted
  Almost as much
  Less than wanted
  A lot less than wanted
  Don't know
  Refused
- C12. Would you say that the doctor involves you in decisions about your care as much as you wanted, almost as much as you wanted, less than you wanted, or a lot less than you wanted?
  - 1 As much as wanted
    2 Almost as much
    3 Less than wanted
    4 A lot less than wanted
    5 More than I wanted (voluntary)
    8 Don't know
    9 Refused
- C13. Overall, how satisfied or dissatisfied are you with the quality of health care you have received? Would you say you are very satisfied, somewhat satisfied, somewhat dissatisfied, or very dissatisfied?
- 1 Very satisfied

2	Somewhat satisfied
3	Somewhat dissatisfied
4	Very dissatisfied
8	Don't know
9	Refused
C14. Du	uring the last 12 months, was there any time when you had a medical problem but put off,
postpon	ed, or did not seek medical care when you needed it?
1	Yes
2	No
8	Don't know
9	Refused
C15. Du	uring the last 12 months, was there any time when you had a medical problem but never
sought a	any medical attention about your condition?
1	Yes
2	No
8	Don't know
9	Refused
C16. Du medicin	uring the last 12 months, was there any time when you did not fill a prescription for e?
1	Yes
2	No
8	Don't know
9	Refused
C17. Du	uring the last 12 months, was there any time that you did not come back for a follow up
appointi	ment that your doctor gave you?
1	Yes
2	No
8	Don't Know
9	Refused

C18. advice, or tr	Has there been a time in the last 12 reatment plan, get a recommended test o	nonths when you didn't follow the door see a referred doctor?	ctor's
1	Yes, has been a time		
2	No, has not been such a time		
8	Don't know		
9	Refuse		
C19. If you	could choose, would you prefer to be tr	eated by a doctor who is male or fema	ale or do
you have no	preference?		
1	Male doctor		
2	Female doctor		
3	No preference		
4	Depends on type of doctor/if an ob/g	yn (voluntary)	
8	Don't know		
9	Refused		
C20. If you	could choose, would you prefer to be tro	eated by a doctor of your own race or	ethnic
group, anoth	ner race or ethnic group, or do you have	no preference?	
1	Own race or ethnic group		
2	Another race or ethnic group		
3	No preference		
8	Don't know		
9	Refused		
SECTION I	D: NEGATIVE EXPERIENCES WITH	THE HEALTHCARE SYSTEM	
Part I: Your	self		
D1. Have y mistreated?	ou ever had a healthcare experience wh	ere you were physically harmed or	
	1- No (go to Part II)	2- Yes	
D1a. Were v	you physically harmed or mistreated?		
, and the second se	1- Harmed	2-Mistreated	
D1b. How lo	ong ago was that experience?		

1-	Less than 1 year ago	
2-	2-5 years ago	
3-	6-10 years ago	
4-	11 + years ago	
	At the time how, much did that experience bother you	1?
1-	None	
2-	Some	
3-	A lot	
D1d. 1	Does it still bother you now?	
1-	None	
2-	Some	
3-	A lot	
	Did you do anything about it?	
1-	Yes	
2-	No	
Part I	II: Relatives	
	Has any close relative had a healthcare experience who	ere they were physically harmed or
	eated?	
		ere they were physically harmed or 2- Yes
mistre	eated?  1- No (go to Part III)	
mistre	eated?  1- No (go to Part III)  Was that person physically harmed or mistreated?	2- Yes
mistre	eated?  1- No (go to Part III)	
mistre D2a.	eated?  1- No (go to Part III)  Was that person physically harmed or mistreated?	2- Yes
mistre D2a.	eated?  1- No (go to Part III)  Was that person physically harmed or mistreated?  1- Harmed	2- Yes
D2a. Y	eated?  1- No (go to Part III)  Was that person physically harmed or mistreated?  1- Harmed  How long ago was that experience?	2- Yes
D2a. Y	eated?  1- No (go to Part III)  Was that person physically harmed or mistreated?  1- Harmed  How long ago was that experience?  Less than 1 year ago	2- Yes
D2a. Y D2b. 1 1- 2-	eated?  1- No (go to Part III)  Was that person physically harmed or mistreated?  1- Harmed  How long ago was that experience?  Less than 1 year ago  2-5 years ago	2- Yes
D2a. Y D2b. 1 1- 2- 3- 4-	How long ago was that experience?  Less than 1 year ago 2-5 years ago 6-10 years ago 11 + years ago	2- Yes 2- Mistreated
D2a. Y D2b. 1 1- 2- 3- 4- D2c. 4	eated?  1- No (go to Part III)  Was that person physically harmed or mistreated?  1- Harmed  How long ago was that experience?  Less than 1 year ago  2-5 years ago  6-10 years ago  11 + years ago  At the time, how much did that experience bother you	2- Yes 2- Mistreated
D2a. Y D2b. 1 1- 2- 3- 4- D2c. 4	1- No (go to Part III)  Was that person physically harmed or mistreated? 1- Harmed  How long ago was that experience? Less than 1 year ago 2-5 years ago 6-10 years ago 11 + years ago At the time, how much did that experience bother you None	2- Yes 2- Mistreated
D2a. Y D2b. 1 1- 2- 3- 4- D2c. 4 1- 2-	eated?  1- No (go to Part III)  Was that person physically harmed or mistreated?  1- Harmed  How long ago was that experience?  Less than 1 year ago  2-5 years ago  6-10 years ago  11 + years ago  At the time, how much did that experience bother you None  Some	2- Yes 2- Mistreated
D2a. Y D2b. 1 1- 2- 3- 4- D2c. 4	1- No (go to Part III)  Was that person physically harmed or mistreated? 1- Harmed  How long ago was that experience? Less than 1 year ago 2-5 years ago 6-10 years ago 11 + years ago At the time, how much did that experience bother you None	2- Yes 2- Mistreated
D2a. Y D2b. 1 1- 2- 3- 4- D2c. 4 1- 2- 3-	eated?  1- No (go to Part III)  Was that person physically harmed or mistreated?  1- Harmed  How long ago was that experience?  Less than 1 year ago  2-5 years ago  6-10 years ago  11 + years ago  At the time, how much did that experience bother you None  Some	2- Yes 2- Mistreated

2- No Part III: Friends					
D3. Has any close friend had a healthcare experient mistreated?	ice where th	ey were phy	ysically harr	ned or	
1- No (go to section E)		2- Yes	S		
D3a. Was that person physically harmed or mistres		Mistreated			
D3b. How long ago was that experience?					
1- Less than 1 year ago					
2- 2-5 years ago					
3- 6-10 years ago					
4- 11 + years ago					
D3c. At the time, how much did that experience be	other you?				
1- None	·				
2- Some					
3- A lot					
D3d. Do you still think about it now?					
1- Yes					
2- No					
E. HEALTH BEHAVIOR					
Commwealth Survey, Survey on Disparities in Qu	ality of Hea	Ith Care: S <sub>1</sub>	pring 2001		
In the last two years, have you had a complete phy professional?	ysical exam	by a doctor	or other hea	alth	
1- Yes					
2- No					
SECTION G: PERCEIVED RACISM INDEX FROM CARDIAC ACCESS STUDY					
For each of the following statement please tell me	if you: Stro	ngly Agree,	Agree, Disa	agree or	
Strongly Disagree		I			
	Strongly Agree	Agree	Disagree	Strongly Disagree	

G1. Doctors treat African American and white patients the same.	1	2	3	4
G2. Racial discrimination in a doctor's office is common	1	2	3	4
G3. In most hospitals, African Americans and & whites receive the same kind of care.	1	2	3	4
African Americans can receive the healthcare they want as equally as white people can.	1	2	3	4

# **Appendix B. Interview Questions**

- 1. How comfortable do you feel when going to the doctor?
- 2. When you receive medical advice, do you feel the need to get a second opinion prior to following it?
- 3. What do you think influenced your level of trust in the healthcare system the most?
- 4. What conversations have your parents/guardians had with you regarding the healthcare system?
- 5. What do you know about the history of medical racism in the US?
- 6. Where did you learn information about the history of medical racism in the US?
- 7. What relationship do your parents have with the US healthcare system?
- 8. Have you personally experienced what you perceived as medical racism? Describe the incident.
  - a. How did/does it affect you?
- Have any of your close relatives experienced what they perceived as medical racism?Describe the incident.
  - a. How did you feel when you heard about this?
- 10. How have these incidents or lack thereof affected your level of trust in the US healthcare system?
- 11. Do you believe that medical racism still exists within the US healthcare system? Why or why not?
- 12. If you could choose, would you prefer to be treated by a doctor of your own race or ethnic group, another race or ethnic group, or do you have no preference? Why?
  - a. Are doctors that fit your preference easily accessible?
- 13. How do you feel your race affects your medical experiences?

# **Appendix C. Consent Form**

Study Title: Attitudes About the US Healthcare System

- 1. The purpose of this study is to examine how African American young adults feel about the US healthcare system. The responses will be used to complete a graduate thesis project. The survey should not take more than 10 minutes and the interview about 20-30 minutes. Participants will be audio or video recorded, and these recordings will be stored in a secure database and deleted after March 2023.
- 2. Risks: There are no risks involved in participating in the study.
- 3. Investigators: The following investigators are available for questions about this study:

Destiny Jelks, Student Researcher at djelks1@lsu.edu

Dr. Laura Ainsworth, Committee Chair, at lainsworth@lsu.edu

- 5. Performance Site: Qualtrics and Zoom
- 6. Number of subjects: 10
- 7. Inclusion Criteria: The participants are young adults aged 18-25 who do not report psychological or neurological conditions.
- 8. Exclusion Criteria: Individuals who are not young adults aged 18-25. Individuals with psychological or neurological conditions.
- 9. Right to Refuse: Subjects may choose not to participate or to withdraw from the study at any time without penalty or loss of any benefit to which they might otherwise be entitled.
- 10. Privacy: Results of the study may be published, but no names or identifying information will be included in the publication. Subject identity will remain confidential unless disclosure is required by law.
- 11. Mental Health Support Services:
  - a. LSU Student Health Center: <a href="https://www.lsu.edu/shc/mental-health/mhshome.php">https://www.lsu.edu/shc/mental-health/mhshome.php</a> 225-924-5781
  - b. Crisis Services: https://crisisservices.org/; 716-834-3131
- 12. Signatures: The study has been discussed with me and all my questions have been answered. I may direct additional questions regarding study specifics to the investigators. For injury or illness, call your physician, or the Student Health Center if you are an LSU student. If I have questions about subjects' rights or other concerns, I can contact Alex Cohen, Institutional Review Board, (225) 578-8692, irb@lsu.edu, or www.lsu.edu/research. I agree to participate in the study described above and acknowledge the investigator's obligation to provide me with a signed copy of this consent form.

C	'ush	inat	ຕ:~	notura		
r	งนบ	iect i	OIE	nature:		

Date:
13. The study subject has indicated to me that he/she is unable to read. I certify that I have read this consent form to the subject and explained that by completing the signature line above, the subject has agreed to participate.
Signature of Reader: Date:
For research involving the collection of identifiable private information or
identifiable biospecimens one of the following must be listed on the consent form:
Identifiers might be removed from the identifiable private information or identifiable biospecimens. After removal, the information or biospecimens may be used for future research studies or distributed to another investigator for future research studies without additional informed consent.
Yes, I give permission Signature
No, I do not give permission Signature
OR
Your information or biospecimens collected as part of the research, even if identifiers are removed, may be used or distributed for future research.
Yes, I give permission Signature
No, I do not give permission Signature

# Appendix D. Demographic Questionnaire

Date			

<u>Instructions</u>: Please answer the questions below. All answers will be kept <u>strictly confidential</u> and your name will not be attached to this form.

1.	Your Gender: (Indicate One)			Female		Male		Other	
2.	Your Age: (Indicate One)	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	25

Appendix E. Recruitment Email

Hello,

My name is Destiny Jelks and I am a second year student in LSU's Child and Family Studies

program. I am conducting an IRB-approved research project that focuses on the

attitudes about the US healthcare system amongst African American young adults. I am

Seeking African American individuals 18-25 years of age to participate in this study. The

responses will be used to complete a graduate thesis project. The survey should not take more

than 10 minutes and the interview about 20-30 minutes. Participants will be audio or video

recorded. For your participation, you have the option to be entered in a drawing for \$25. All

participation is VOLUNTARY and all responses will be kept CONFIDENTIAL.

If you have questions or are interested in participating, please email me at djelks1@lsu.edu.

Survey Link:

Thank you for your consideration!

69

### References

- Albeck, J. (1994). Intergenerational consequences of trauma: reframing traps in treatment theory: A second-generation perspective. *Handbook of Post-Traumatic Therapy* (pp. 106–125). Westport, CT: Greenwood Press.
- Alexander, G. C., & Sehgal, A. R. (1998). Barriers to cadaveric renal transplantation among blacks, women, and the poor. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 280, 1148e1152.
- American Public Health Association. (2020). Declarations of racism as a public health issue. <a href="https://www.apha.org/topics-and-issues/healthequity/racism-and-health/racism-declaration">https://www.apha.org/topics-and-issues/healthequity/racism-and-health/racism-declaration</a>
- Armstrong, K., McMurphy, S., Dean, L. T., Micco, E., Putt, M., Halbert, C. H., Schwartz, J. S., Sankar, P., Pyeritz, R. E., Bernhardt, B., & Shea, J. A. (2008). Differences in the patterns of health care system distrust between blacks and whites. <a href="https://doiorg.libezp.lib.lsu.edu/10.1007/s11606-008-0561-9">https://doiorg.libezp.lib.lsu.edu/10.1007/s11606-008-0561-9</a>
- Berger, S. S. (2014). Whose trauma is it anyway? Furthering our understanding of its intergenerational yransmission. *Journal of Infant, Child & Adolescent Psychotherapy*, *13*(3), 169–181. <a href="https://doiorg.libezp.lib.lsu.edu/10.1080/15289168.2014.937975">https://doiorg.libezp.lib.lsu.edu/10.1080/15289168.2014.937975</a>
- Bergmann, M. S., & Jacoby, M. E. (1982). Generations of the holocaust. New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Blanchard, S. B., Coard, S. I., Hardin, B. J., & Mereoiu, M. (2018). Use of parental racial socialization with African American Toddler Boys. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, 28(2), 387–400. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-018-1274-2
- Bryant-Davis, T., & Ocampo, C. (2005). Racist incident based trauma. *The Counseling Psychologist*, *33*(4), 479–500. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011000005276465
- Brave Heart, M. Y. H. (2003). The historical trauma response among natives and its relationship to substance abuse: A Lakota illustration. *Journal of Psychoactive Drugs*, *35*, 7–14. doi:10.1300/J045v10n04\_01
- Bryant-Davis, T., & Ocampo, C. (2005). Racist incident based trauma. *The Counseling Psychologist*, *3*3(4), 479–500. https://doi.org/10.1177/001100000527646
- Byrd, W. M., & Clayton, L. A. (2000). An American health dilemma: A medical history of African Americans and the problem of race. New York: Routledge.
- Carrol, G. (1998). Mundane extreme environmental stress and african american families: A case for recognizing different realities. *Journal of Comparative Family Studies*, 29(2), 271–284.

- Carter, R. T., Forsyth, J. M., Mazzula, S. L., & Williams, B. (2005). Racial discrimination and race-based traumatic stress: An exploratory investigation. In R. T. Carter (Ed.), *Handbook of racial-cultural psychology and counseling, Vol. 2. Training and Practice* (p. 447–476). Wiley.
- Carter, R. T. (2007). Racism and psychological and emotional injury: Recognizing and assessing race-based traumatic stress. *The Counseling Psychologist*, *35*(1), 13–105. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011000006292033
- Carter, R. T., Forsyth, J. M., Mazzula, S. L., & Williams, B. (2005). Racial discrimination and race-based traumatic stress: An exploratory investigation. In R. T. Carter (Ed.), *Handbook of racial-cultural psychology and counseling, Vol. 2. Training and Practice* (p. 447–476). Wiley.
- Charatz-Litt C. (1992). A chronicle of racism: the effects of the white medical community on black health. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 84(8), 717–725.
- Cuvier, G., Griffith, E., Pidgeon, E. (1834). The animal kingdom: Arranged in conformity with its organization.
- Davis, A. L. (2022). 'I can't breathe:' A qualitative study exploring the effects of viewing police brutality on Black Americans [ProQuest Information & Learning]. In Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering (Vol. 83, Issue 11–B)
- De Coster, S., & Thompson, M. S. (2017). Race and general strain theory: microaggressions as mundane extreme environmental stresses. *JQ: Justice Quarterly*, *34*(5), 903–930. <a href="https://doi-org.libezp.lib.lsu.edu/10.1080/07418825.2016.1236204">https://doi-org.libezp.lib.lsu.edu/10.1080/07418825.2016.1236204</a>
- Delgado, R., & Stefancic, J. (2017). Introduction. In critical race theory: An introduction (pp. 1–13). essay, New York University Press.
- Fast, J. (2020). New medical studies, same old politics: The effects of anti-black racism on penetrative trauma research. *Journal of Critical Race Inquiry*, 7(1), 23–45. https://doi.org/10.24908/jcri.v7i1.11765
- Feagin, J., & Bennefield, Z. (2013). Systemic racism and U.S. health care. *Social Science & Medicine*, 103, 7-14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2013.09.006.
- Few-Demo, A. L. (2014). Intersectionality as the "new" critical approach in feminist family studies: Evolving racial/ethnic feminisms and critical race theories. *Journal of Family Theory Review*, 6(2), 169–183. https://doi.org/10.1111/jftr.12039
- Fitzgerald, M., London, J. A., & Gallus, K. L. (2020). Intergenerational transmission of trauma and family systems theory: an empirical investigation. *Journal of Family Therapy*, 42(3), 406–424. <a href="https://doi-org.libezp.lib.lsu.edu/10.1111/1467-6427.12303">https://doi-org.libezp.lib.lsu.edu/10.1111/1467-6427.12303</a>

- Ford, L. S. (2019). Systemic medical racism: The reconstruction of whiteness through the deconstruction of black bodies. *Honors College Theses*. 403. https://digitalcommons.georgiasouthern.edu/honors-theses/403
- George, J. (2021). A lesson on critical race theory. Americanbar.org. https://www.americanbar.org/groups/crsj/publications/human\_rights\_magazine\_home/civil-rights-reimagining-policing/a-lesson-on-critical-race-theory/
- Goff, P. A., Jackson, M. C., Di Leone, B. A. L., Culotta, C. M., & DiTomasso, N. A. (2014). The essence of innocence: Consequences of dehumanizing Black children. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 106(4), 526–545.
- Greening, N. (2019). Phenomenological Research methodology. *Scientific Research Journal*, 7(5) https://doi.org/10.31364/scirj/v7.i5.2019.p0519656 \
- Greer, T. M., Brondolo, E., & Brown, P. (2014). Systemic racism moderates effects of provider racial biases on adherence to hypertension treatment for African Americans. *Health Psychology*, *33*(1), 35–42. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0032777
- Hargons, C. N., Malone, N., Montique, C., Dogan, J., Stuck, J., Meiller, C., Sanchez, A., Sullivan, Q.-A., Bohmer, C., Curvey, R., Woods, I., Jr., Tyler, K., Oluokun, J., & Stevens-Watkins, D. (2022). "White people stress me out all the time": Black students define racial trauma. *Cultural Diversity and Ethnic Minority Psychology*, 28(1), 49–57. https://doi-org.libezp.lib.lsu.edu/10.1037/cdp0000351.supp (Supplemental)
- Helm, K. M. (2021). Family systems theory. Salem Press Encyclopedia of Health.
- Henderson, Z. R., Stephens, T. N., Ortega-Williams, A., & Walton, Q. L. (2021). Conceptualizing healing through the African American experience of historical trauma. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, *91*(6), 763–775. <a href="https://doiorg.libezp.lib.lsu.edu/10.1037/ort0000578">https://doiorg.libezp.lib.lsu.edu/10.1037/ort0000578</a>
- Holland, B. (2017, August 29). The 'father of Modern Gynecology' performed shocking experiments on enslaved women. History.com. Retrieved March 3, 2022, from https://www.history.com/news/the-father-of-modern-gynecology-performed-shocking-experiments-on-slaves
- Hughes, D., Rodriguez, J., Smith, E. P., Johnson, D. J., Stevenson, H. C., & Spicer, P. (2006). Parents' ethnic-racial socialization practices: a review of research and directions for future study. *Developmental Psychology*, 42(5), 747–770.
- Johns Hopkins University. (2003). Medical Mistrust Survey.

- Kincade, L. L., & Fox, C. A. (2022). "Runs in the family": Fear of police violence and separation among Black families in central Alabama. *Psychology of Violence*, 12(4), 221–230. https://doi-org.libezp.lib.lsu.edu/10.1037/vio0000420
- Laurencin, C. T., & Walker, J. M. (2020). A pandemic on a pandemic: Racism and covid-19 in blacks. *Cell Systems*, 11(1), 9–10. <a href="https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cels.2020.07.002">https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cels.2020.07.002</a>
- LaVeist, T. A., Nickerson, K. J., & Bowie, J. V. (2000). Attitudes about racism, medical mistrust, and satisfaction with care among african american and white cardiac patients. *Medical Care Research and Review*, *57*(4), 146–161. https://doi.org/10.1177/107755800773743637
- Lester, S. (1999) An introduction to phenomenological research. *Royal Geographical Society*
- Markin, R. D., & Coleman, M. N. (2021). Intersections of gendered racial trauma and childbirth trauma: Clinical interventions for Black women. *Psychotherapy*. <a href="https://doi-org.libezp.lib.lsu.edu/10.1037/pst0000403">https://doi-org.libezp.lib.lsu.edu/10.1037/pst0000403</a>
- Mayberry, R., Mili, F., & Ofili, E. (2000). Racial and ethnic differences in access to medical care. *Medical Care Research and Review*, *57*, 108e145.
- Medlock, M. M., Shtasel, D., Trinh, Williams, D. R. (2019). Racism and psychiatry: Contemporary issues and interventions. *Humana Press*.
- Miller, C., & Vittrup, B. (2020). The indirect effects of police racial bias on african american families. *Journal of Family Issues*, 41(10), 1699–1722. https://doiorg.libezp.lib.lsu.edu/10.1177/0192513X20929068
- Morgan, S. (2004). The power of talk: African Americans' communication with family members about organ donation and its impact on the willingness to donate organs. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 21(1), 112–124. <a href="https://doiorg.libezp.lib.lsu.edu/10.1177/0265407504039845">https://doiorg.libezp.lib.lsu.edu/10.1177/0265407504039845</a>
- Nuriddin, A., Mooney, G, & White, A. I. (2020). Reckoning with histories of medical racism and violence in the USA. *The Lancet*, *396*(10256), 949–951. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(20)32032-8
- Obel-Omia, M. C. (2016). Wading in the water. *Independent School*, 75(4), 12.
- Peek, M. E., Odoms-Young, A., Quinn, M. T., Gorawara-Bhat, R., Wilson, S. C., & Chin, M. H. (2010). Race and shared decision-making: Perspectives of African-Americans with diabetes. *Social Science & Medicine*, 71, 1–9. <a href="http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.03.01">http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2010.03.01</a>
- Pinderhughes, E. (2004). The multigenerational transmission of loss and trauma: The African-American experience. In F. Walsh & M. McGoldrick (Eds.), *Living beyond loss: Death in the family.*, 2nd ed. (pp. 161–181). W W Norton & Co.

- Powell, W., Richmond, J., Mohottige, D., Yen, I., Joslyn, A., & Corbie-Smith, G. (2019). Medical Mistrust, racism, and delays in preventive health screening among African-American men. *Behavioral Medicine*, 45(2), 102–117. https://doi.org/10.1080/08964289.2019.1585327
- Sanford, K., & Clifton, M. (2022). The Medical Mistrust Multiformat Scale: Links with vaccine hesitancy, treatment adherence, and patient—physician relationships. *Psychological Assessment, 34*(1), 10–20. https://doiorg.libezp.lib.lsu.edu/10.1037/pas0001097.supp (Supplemental)
- Sanger, M. (1922). The pivot of civilization. *Brentano's Publishers*.
- Shavers, V. L., & Shavers, B. S. (2006). Racism and health inequity among Americans. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 98(3), 386–396.
- Sigal, J. J. (1998). Long-term effects of the Holocaust: Empirical evidence for resilience in the first, second, and third generation. *Psychoanalytic Review*, 85, 579–585.
- Sims, J. M. (1884). The story of my life. *Appleton*.
- Smith, A. C., Woerner, J., Perera, R., Haeny, A. M., & Cox, J. M. (2021). An investigation of associations between race, ethnicity, and past experiences of discrimination with medical mistrust and COVID-19 protective strategies. *Journal of Racial and Ethnic Health Disparities*, 1–13. <a href="https://doi-org.libezp.lib.lsu.edu/10.1007/s40615-021-01080-x">https://doi-org.libezp.lib.lsu.edu/10.1007/s40615-021-01080-x</a>
- Sotero, M. M. (2006). A conceptual model of historical trauma: Implications for public health practice and research. *Journal of Health Disparities Research and Practice*, 1, 93–108.
- Steele, C. K. (2016). Pride and prejudice: Pervasiveness of colorism and the animated series proud family. *Howard Journal of Communications*, 27(1), 53–67.
- Suite, D. H., La Bril, R., Primm, A., & Harrison-Ross, P. (2007). Beyond misdiagnosis, misunderstanding and mistrust: relevance of the historical perspective in the medical and mental health treatment of people of color. *Journal of the National Medical Association*, 99(8), 879–885.
- Sullivan, S. (2013). Inheriting racist disparities in health. *Critical Philosophy of Race*, 1(2), 190–218. https://doi.org/10.5325/critphilrace.1.2.0190
- Toms-Anthony, S. (2018). Annalise Keating's portrayal as a black Attorney is the real scandal: Examining how the use of stereotypical depictions of black women can lead to the formation of implicit biases. *National Black Law Journal*, 27(1), 59-78.
- Ture, K., & Hamilton, C. (1967). Black power. Random House.
- Ungvarsky, J. (2020). Phenomenology. Salem Press Encyclopedia.

- Vaughans, K. C. (2014). Disavowed fragments of the intergenerational transmission of trauma from slavery among African Americans. In K. C. Vaughans & W. Spielberg (Eds.), *The psychology of Black boys and adolescents.*, *1-2.* (pp. 563–575). Praeger/ABC-CLIO.
- Wade, N. (2014). A troublesome inheritance: genes, race and human history. *Penguin Press*.
- Washington, H. A. (2006). Medical apartheid: The dark history of medical experimentation on black Americans from colonial times to the present. *Harlem Moon*.
- Williams, D. R. (1999). Race, socioeconomic status, and health the added effects of racism and discrimination. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 896(1), 173–188. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1999.tb08114.x
- Williams- Washington, K. N., & Mills, C. P. (2018). African American Historical Trauma: Creating an Inclusive Measure. *Journal of Multicultural Counseling & Development*, 46(4), 246–263. <a href="https://doioorg.libezp.lib.lsu.edu/10.1002/jmcd.12113">https://doioorg.libezp.lib.lsu.edu/10.1002/jmcd.12113</a>

## Vita

Destiny Jelks, born in Indianapolis, Indiana, worked as an Assistant Teacher while obtaining her undergraduate degree in Psychology from Spelman College. She currently works as a Registered Behavior Techincian, providing therapy for children with Autism Spectrum Disorder. Fueled by her passion for working with children, she entered the Department of Social Work at Louisiana State University. Upon completion of her Master's degree in Child and Family studies, she will continue her research in her doctoral program.